TGEGKXGF. '331: 14235''382: 56. 'Iqj p'C0Vqo cukpq. 'Engtm''Uwrtgo g'Eqwtv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC13-2105

# ASKARI ABDULLAH MUHAMMAD, FKA THOMAS KNIGHT,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

# INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LINDA MCDERMOTT Fla. Bar No. 0102857

MARTIN J. MCCLAIN Fla. Bar No. 0754773

McClain & McDermott, P.A. 20301 Grande Oak Blvd Suite 118-61 Estero, FL 33928

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

#### INTRODUCTION

On October 4, 2013, this Court's Clerk sent a list of onehundred and forty-one (141) names of death sentenced individuals who had exhausted their initial postconviction appeals and were warrant eligible, to Governor Scott. A few weeks later, Mr. Muhammad's name was picked from the list and a warrant was signed. This was so despite the fact that Mr. Muhammad's death sentence which was used as an aggravator to obtain a death sentence in the case at hand is still subject to challenge in the federal courts - a valid reason to exercise discretion and wait to deny Mr. Muhammad's pending clemency petition. Mr. Muhammad's execution was scheduled for December 3, 2013. No notice was provided to Mr. Muhammad or his counsel that a warrant would be signed.

Mr. Muhammad's death warrant is not only the first warrant signed under the Timely Justice Act, but also followed on the heels of the Department of Corrections' (DOC), recent adoption of a new lethal injection protocol that was adopted on September 9, 2013. Significantly, DOC decided to substitute midazolam hydrochloride as the first-drug which had previously been pentobarbital, a barbituate, commonly used as an anesthetic. Midazolam hydrochloride is not commonly used as an anesthetic and no other state has experimented with the use of midazolam as an anesthetic. The substitution was made without debate or comment or justification.

Moreover, DOC's newly enacted protocol clung to the threedrug protocol which is quickly becoming obsolete in active death

penalty states. Again, the decision to stick with the use of three drugs was made without debate or comment or justification.

Shortly before Mr. Muhammad's execution was scheduled, William Happ was executed. Using midazolam for the first time, Mr. Happ was reported to have been moving his head from side to side, after the warden had already conducted the consciousness check, yet no further determination of consciousness was made.

Under the circumstances, this new three-drug protocol which caused Mr. Happ's execution to take twice as long and demonstrated that something was not right, would seemingly require that warrants cease and discovery, deliberation and decisions be made. To date, that has not happened. Instead, a compressed and burdensome time schedule was imposed and the State determined that secrecy, obstruction and rule breaking were the best policies to sweep Mr. Muhammad's legitimate, constitutional concerns under the carpet.

Mr. Muhammad found no succor in the circuit court, where a judge who had no familiarity or knowledge of Mr. Muhammad's case, rejected black letter law and accepted the State's representations as fact, when Mr. Muhammad was provided no opportunity to present evidence to refute the State's arguments.

And so, Mr. Muhammad now requests that this Court enforce its rules and law and remand his case for an evidentiary hearing on his claims.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Muhammad was charged by indictment October 24, 1980, with one count of first-degree murder in Bradford County, Florida (R. 1-2).

From the outset, Mr. Muhammad's mental competency was at issue in his capital trial. Initially, the court appointed Joseph Forbes and Susan Cary to represent Mr. Muhammad. They soon requested that a mental health expert be appointed to aid the defense and Dr. Jamal Amin was appointed (R. 4, 34-35). Shortly thereafter, Mr. Forbes withdrew and Judge Green removed Ms. Cary based upon the slanderous and baseless information he was told about her personal relationship with Mr. Muhammad. <u>See</u> Order of Recusal and Appendix, January 21, 1981. Stephen Bernstein was appointed to represent Mr. Muhammad.

During an appearance before Judge Green, Mr. Muhammad requested that he be permitted to conduct his defense <u>pro se</u> while also insisting that he be provided with the assistance of counsel (R. 63). Judge Green conducted a <u>Faretta</u> hearing and denied the motion citing to a defense motion describing Mr. Muhammad "as having `. . a severely disabling mental illness' . . . `a major psychiatric illness' and has been committed to the state hospital as `incompetent.'" The court further observed that Mr. Muhammad "exhibits symptoms consistent with extreme paranoia." Judge Green proceeded to appoint Mr. Bernstein as "Attorney Ad Litem as well as attorney of record for the Defendant in this case and in such other matters, if any, as Stephen N. Bernstein, in his sole professional judgment shall

deem indicated." (R. 63, 1651-56).

Thereafter Judge Green recused himself because he realized that the State had tricked him into removing Ms. Cary and because he believed the State's interference with Mr. Muhammad's defense would cause him to be prejudiced against the State. <u>See</u> Order of Recusal and Appendix, January 21, 1981. Judge Carlisle, who was appointed to preside over the trial proceedings, conducted another <u>Faretta</u> hearing, and determined that Mr. Muhammad was competent to stand trial, but not competent to waive counsel (R. 10-25). Thereafter, Judge Carlisle recused himself.

The case was then assigned to Judge Chance. On June 7, 1982, a hearing was held before Judge Chance who proceeded to conduct a third <u>Faretta</u> hearing (R. 564-600). During this hearing Mr. Muhammad reiterated his wish to have the assistance of counsel (R. 581-82). Reversing Judge Green's and Judge Carlisle's earlier judgments that Mr. Muhammad was not competent to represent himself, Judge Chance accepted Mr. Muhammad's waiver of counsel and granted his request to proceed as his own counsel (R. 389).

Subsequently, Mr. Muhammad filed another <u>pro se</u> motion for the assistance of counsel (R. 396-97). During the hearing before Judge Chance on July 19, 1982, Mr. Muhammad again requested the assistance of counsel (R. 1673-76). Mr. Bernstein subsequently filed a motion to withdraw as counsel and the Public Defender was appointed as stand-by counsel (R. 1714-17). At the time of the <u>Faretta</u> inquiry, Mr. Muhammad asked for legal assistance in his case and was assured that Mr. Bernstein would be available to

assist him in the preparation of his case (R. 581-82). However, after Mr. Bernstein withdrew Judge Chance ordered the new standby counsel, Mr. Replogle, not to consult with his client (PC-R2. 913-4).

On October 19, 1982, Mr. Muhammad's capital trial began. On direct appeal, this court described the evidence presented at trial:

Muhammad, awaiting execution on death row, fatally stabbed a prison guard in the late afternoon of October 12, 1980. The incident apparently arose out of Muhammad's frustration at being denied permission to see a visitor after he refused to shave his beard. In the past Muhammad had been issued a pass excusing him from shaving regulations for medical reasons. A guard checked with the medical department and determined that Muhammad had no current exemption from the rule. At that time Muhammad was heard to say he would have to start "sticking people."

James Burke, a guard on a later shift who had not been involved with the shaving incident, was routinely taking death row inmates one at a time to be showered. When he unlocked Muhammad's cell, the defendant attacked Burke with a knife made from a sharpened serving spoon. Muhammad inflicted more than a dozen wounds on Burke, including a fatal wound to the heart. The weapon was bent during the attack, but Muhammad continued to stab Burke, who attempted to fend off the blows and yelled for help. The other guard on the prison wing saw the incident from a secure position and summoned help from other areas of the prison. When help arrived, Muhammad ceased his efforts and dropped the knife into a trash box.

<u>Muhammad v. State</u>, 494 So. 2d 969, 970 (1986). On October 26, 1982, the jury rendered a verdict of guilty (R. 1502).

On November 4, 1982, Mr. Muhammad entered the Bradford County courtroom prepared to proceed before the jury with the penalty phase of his trial. The courtroom, with seating for 80, had been packed with more than 100 uniformed correctional

officers (PC-R2. 1154-58). Mr. Muhammad clearly indicated on the record that he was intimidated and overwhelmed by their presence, as he assumed the jury would be (R. 1522, 1524). One reporter's account termed the scene "ominous" and noted this was the second time during the trial that DOC officers had showed up <u>en masse</u> (PC-R2. 1154-58).

Mr. Muhammad, acting as his own counsel, requested that the State do something about it. The State did not. Defense counsel asked that the court do something about it -- remove them. The court refused. Mr. Muhammad insisted that the overwhelming presence of the Department of Corrections employees in the courtroom was affecting him and chilling his right to an impartial jury penalty recommendation (R. 1524). As a result of these coercive circumstances, the jury was "waived" (R. 1526). Mr. Muhammad waived his right to a jury during the penalty phase and presented no evidence in mitigation (R. 1517, 1525, 1542).

On January 20, 1983, without a jury recommendation, Judge Chance imposed the death sentence (R. 1584-85).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed. <u>Muhammad v. State</u>,494 So. 2d 969 (Fla. 1986), <u>cert</u>. <u>denied</u>, 479 U.S. 1101 (1987).

On February 23, 1989, Mr. Muhammad filed a Rule 3.850 motion and on April 24, 1989, Mr. Muhammad filed his Consolidated Motion for Evidentiary Hearing, Supplement to and in Support of Motion for Rule 3.850 Relief, and Proffer in Support of Motion for Evidentiary Hearing and Motion to Vacate together with an Appendix.

On August 31, 1989, the trial court summarily denied relief

(PC-R. 1378-84). Mr. Muhammad timely appealed.

On June 11, 1992, this Court ordered that an evidentiary hearing be held on Mr. Muhammad's claims that the State violated <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). <u>See Muhammad v. State</u>, 603 So. 2d 488, 490 (Fla. 1992).

An evidentiary hearing was held June 12 and June 13, 2000. On May 8, 2001, Judge Chance, who presided over Mr. Muhammad's trial in 1982, and originally sentenced Mr. Muhammad to death, entered his Order Granting Motion for Post-Conviction Relief in Part, vacating the death sentence and found that a new sentencing hearing was required (PC-R2. 904-11).

On appeal, this Court reversed the circuit court's order as to the grant of relief. <u>State v. Muhammad</u>, 866 So. 2d 1195 (Fla. 2003).

Mr. Muhammad filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus in federal district court on January 18, 2005. On March 29, 2007, the federal district court denied the petition. <u>Muhammad v.</u> <u>McDonough</u>, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 23939.

Mr. Muhammad appealed to the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals. On January 9, 2009, the Eleventh Circuit denied Mr. Muhammad a certificate of appealability. <u>Muhammad v. Sec'y.</u>, <u>Dept. of Corrs.</u>, 554 F.3d 949 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2009). And, on January 25, 2010, the United States Supreme Court denied review. <u>Muhammad</u> <u>v. McNeil</u>, 559 U.S. 906 (2010).

While Mr. Muhammad's appeal proceeded in federal court, on July 28, 2008, he filed a successive 3.851 motion concerning the constitutionality of lethal injection (PC-R3. 1-32). On

September 9, 2008, the circuit court denied relief (PC-R3. 49-50).

Mr. Muhammad appealed to this Court. After briefing, by order, this Court denied all relief. <u>Muhammad v. State</u>, 22 So. 3d 538 (Fla. 2009).

On October 21, 2013, Governor Scott signed Mr. Muhammad's warrant and his execution was scheduled for December 3, 2013.

On October 23, 2013, a status hearing was conducted before the Honorable Robert E. Roundtree, Chief Judge for the Eighth Judicial Circuit. At the hearing, Mr. Muhammad was directed to file his Rule 3.851 motion by 4:00 p.m. on October 29, 2013. The State was directed to respond by 4:00 p.m. on October 30, 2013; and a case management conference was scheduled for 9:00 a.m. on October 31, 2013, before the Honorable Ysleta W. McDonald.

Mr. Muhammad filed public record requests pursuant to Rule 3.852(h)(3) and (i) on October 24 and 25, respectively (PC-R4. 5-6, 7-8, 9-10, 11-12, 13-14, 15-16, 74-79, 80-85, 86-91, 92-97, 98-123, 124-149). Agencies to which the public records requests were directed filed responses and objections (17-35, 69-73, 389-398, 399-404, 411-470, 471-473).

Mr. Muhammad filed his Rule 3.851 motion and appendix to the motion on October 29, 2013 (PC-R4. 150-218, 219-388). The State responded the following day (PC-R4. 476-505).

Mr. Muhammad also filed a Motion for Stay; a Motion to Allow Access to Execution Scheduled for November 12, 2013, and Autopsy (PC-R4. 508-510, 511-514, 515-516).

On October 30, 2013, Mr. Muhammad learned that his case had

been reassigned to the Honorable Phyllis M. Rosier, without explanation (PC-R4. 474).

The case management conference was held on October 31, 2013 (T. 1-144). Mr. Muhammad addressed the claims included in his Rule 3.851 motion and his public record requests and motions (T. 1-144).

The circuit court orally ruled on Mr. Muhammad's motion, citing her reasoning for the denial of all relief in open court on October 31, 2013 (PC-R4. 135-141).

On November 4, 2013, Mr. Muhammad received a written order that differed markedly from the circuit court's oral pronouncement (PC-R4. 535-545).

The following day, Mr. Muhammad filed a motion for rehearing (PC-R4. 548-562). The motion was denied a few hours later (PC-R4. 566-567), and Mr. Muhammad timely filed his notice of appeal (PC-R4. 568-569).

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

\_\_\_\_\_1. Mr. Muhammad has been denied due process by the complete denial of discovery, including the denial public records and access to evidence and information. The rules and law support Mr. Muhammad's requests, yet, the circuit court disregarded them in denying Mr. Muhammad's requests.

 The circuit court erred in summarily denying Mr.
Muhammad's claims that Florida's current lethal injection procedure violates the eighth amendment.

3. Mr. Muhammad was denied due process throughout his clemency proceeding when the State interfered with his counsel.

Further, the denial of a clemency hearing due to Mr. Muhammad's medical condition and the decision to execute Mr. Muhammad at a time when his medical condition became inconvenient for the State, demonstrates that the proceeding was in no way fair or reasoned.

4. Because of the inordinate length of time that Mr. Muhammad has spent on death row, spending years in solitary confinement, adding his execution to that punishment would constitute cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as binding norms of international law.

5. The Timely Justice Act is unconstitutional in that it violates the separation of powers.

6. Mr. Muhammad is a paranoid schizophrenic. It violates the eighth amendment to execute him when he suffers from a severe mental illness.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The circuit court summarily denied an evidentiary hearing, and therefore the facts presented in this appeal must be taken as true. <u>Peede v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 253, 257 (Fla. 1999); <u>Gaskin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 737 So. 2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999).

Furthermore, because the claims presented in this appeal are constitutional issues involving mixed questions of law and fact *de novo* is required. <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028, 1034 (Fla. 1999); <u>State v. Glatzmayer</u>, 789 So. 2d 297, 301 n.7 (Fla. 2001).

#### ARGUMENT I

MR. MUHAMMAD WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS THROUGHOUT HIS POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS. THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW WERE NEITHER FULL NOR FAIR.

# I. THE HISTORY OF PUBLIC RECORDS

# A. AVAILABILITY OF PUBLIC RECORDS TO CAPITAL DEFENDANTS IN COLLATERAL PROCEEDINGS

In <u>Tribune v. Public Records</u>, 493 So. 2d 480, 482 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup>

DCA 1986), <u>review denied</u> 503 So. 2d 327 (Fla. 1987), public

records were sought by two capital collateral defendants and two

newspapers.<sup>1</sup> As the court there explained:

Because of great public interest in the cases, including questions about the identity of the victim, several parties (including Miller and Jent who believed the requested information might exonerate them) sought access via the Public Records Act to the Miller and Jent case files held by the Pasco County Sheriff.

The Pasco County Sheriff then turned to the courts for guidance

in responding to the public records requests:

In a quandary about the several requests for public disclosure, the Pasco County Sheriff, custodian of the records, filed an action for declaratory judgment in Pasco County Circuit Court asking whether the records sought were exempt from disclosure to the public as active criminal investigative information pursuant to section 119.07(3)(d), Florida Statutes (1985), and whether Miller's and Jent's actions for post-conviction relief were appeals within the meaning of section 119.011(3)(d) 2, Florida Statutes (1985). The appellants, and others, were granted leave to intervene in the action before the circuit court.

This led to the decision that criminal investigative files were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Ernest Miller and William Jent had been convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to death in 1979. After the public records were provided to them, they were successful in seeking a new trial in federal habeas proceedings on the basis of violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>.

closed, and thus discoverable public records, when a criminal conviction as to the criminal investigation was final. The court explained its reasoning as follows:

If we follow the circuit court's reasoning, in order for Miller and Jent to acquire access to the custodian's secret information they must cease all post-conviction attacks on their convictions. Miller and Jent, however, seek the secret information for the very purpose of determining whether they were fairly treated by the criminal justice process. To require them to cease all efforts to aid themselves by attacking their convictions, in order to find out whether the secret information will help them, puts them between a real-life Scylla and Charybdis. Miller and Jent are faced with an insoluble dilemma: they cannot help themselves without the information, yet they must not help themselves in order to obtain it.

On the other hand, to restrict the public's access to the information depending upon whether (or when) Miller and Jent (or others on their behalf, now or even after they are executed, if executed they will be) seek post-conviction relief borders on obfuscation. The limited purpose of the exemption for active criminal investigative information-to protect the apprehension and prosecution of persons accused of crime-has been fully satisfied in this case. Cannella, 438 So.2d at 523. Miller and Jent were long ago arrested, investigated, indicted, tried and convicted. To lockstep the public's right to know depending on what Miller and Jent have done or might do simply goes beyond the bounds of reason. Once public records are open for inspection they cannot be withdrawn by subsequent court challenge. <u>Cannella</u>, 458 So.2d at 1079.

The public policy pervading this case is that public records must be freely accessible unless some overriding public purpose can only be secured by secrecy. Lorei v. Smith, 464 So.2d 1330, 1332 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). This public policy favoring open records must be given the broadest expression. <u>Id</u>. It is the exception which must be narrowly construed. <u>Bludworth</u>, 476 So.2d at 780, n. 1.

<u>Tribune</u>, 493 So. 2d at 484 (emphasis added). Thus, the pendency of collateral proceedings did not render the records exempt from disclosure pursuant to a public records request. This understanding of the provisions of Chapter 119 was adopted by this Court in <u>State v. Kokal</u>, 562 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 1990). There, Mr. Kokal's capital collateral counsel sought to obtain the trial prosecutor's files regarding Mr. Kokal's conviction after the Governor had signed a death warrant scheduling Mr. Kokal's execution.<sup>2</sup> The request had been made in order to facilitate the preparation of a Rule 3.850 motion:

Thereafter, Kokal filed a motion for postconviction relief. Pending a hearing on this motion, Kokal moved to compel disclosure of the files of the state attorney pertaining to his prosecution under chapter 119, Florida Statutes (1987). In his motion, Kokal alleged that he had formally requested access to these files prior to filing his motion for postconviction relief and that thereafter the state attorney had declined to provide his lawyer with access to these files. The court stayed the postconviction hearing and ordered the state attorney to provide access to the files.

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