FILED THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA A. TOMASINO

2013 NOV 13 PM 1: 45

CASE NO. SC13-2105

CLERK. SUPREME COURT

THOMAS KNIGHT A/K/A ASKARI ABDULLAH MUHAMMAD,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BRADFORD COUNTY, CRIMINAL DIVISION

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 650
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5655
Primary: capapp@myfloridalegal.com
Secondary: Sandra.Jaggard@
myfloridalegal.com

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

Additionally, while Defendant insists that the new protocol and details of the old protocol were not before the lower court, Defendant ignores that he, himself, attached the new protocol to both his public records requests and his motion. (PCR4. 111-23, 137-49, 222-34) As this Court has recognized, a trial court may consider matters in the court file in denying a post conviction claim. Patton v. State, 784 So. 2d 380, 388 (Fla. 2000). Having placed the new protocol before the lower court, Defendant cannot be heard to complain that the lower court considered it. See Boyd v. State, 910 So. 2d 167, 186-87 (Fla. 2005); San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1348 (Fla. 1997); White v. State, 446

So. 2d 1031, 1036 (Fla. 1984). Moreover, the details of the old protocols are presented in this Court's opinions. As such, Defendant's complaint about the lower court acknowledgement of the nature of the change in protocol is frivolous. This is all the more true, as Defendant, himself, alleged that the change in protocol was the substitution of the new drug without mentioning any other change.⁴ (PCT4. 172-74, 178-79) Given these circumstances, Defendant's complaint about the consideration of the nature of the change should be rejected, and the denial of the claim affirmed.

In another attempt to suggest that he has a claim, Defendant insists that Florida has a record of mistakes during lethal injection protocols. In support of this assertion, Defendant relies on newspaper accounts of the Demps and Diaz executions and statements by attorneys about things they did not see during executions in 2006, 2009, 2011. However, these assertions do not make the claim facially sufficient because they are barred and meritless.

While this Court has held that they are not barred when they are based on alleged problems during an execution, it has done so on the basis that the alleged problem constitutes newly

⁴ Defendant's failure to mention any other change, even now on appeal, is clearly attributable to the fact that there was no other change.

discovered evidence. Schwab v. State, 969 So. 2d 318, 321 (Fla. 2007). Claims based on newly discovered evidence must be filed within one year of when the evidence could have been discovered through an exercise of due diligence to be timely. Jimenez v. State, 997 So. 2d 1056, 1064 (Fla. 2008). Here, Defendant makes no attempt to explain how events occurring between 2000 and 2011 could not have been discovered until October 29, 2012, one year before he filed this claim. In fact, even the attorney affidavits on which Defendant relies are dated in September 2012. Given these circumstances, this claim is untimely and should be denied as such.

Moreover, a similar claim about Florida's alleged history of problems during executions was raised and rejected in *Valle*. *Valle*, 70 So. 3d at 545. As such, Defendant's attempt to relitigate the issue again is improper. *Pardo*, 108 So. 3d at 563; *Valle*, 70 So. 3d at 545-46. The summary denial of the claim should be affirmed.

Further, it should be remembered that the claims regarding the Diaz and Demps executions have been considered and rejected. Lightbourne, 969 So. 2d at 343-53; Provenzano v. State, 761 So. 2d 1097 (Fla. 2000). Defendant's other alleged problems are specious. While Defendant avers that Todd Doss did not see a consciousness check during the 2006 Hill execution, Defendant

ignores that the consciousness check was not added to the protocol until the 2007 version of the protocols. Lightbourne, 969 So. 2d at 346. Thus, the fact that Mr. Doss did not see a consciousness assessment being performed before the performance of a consciousness check was part of the protocol does not show a problem at all. While Defendant notes that Neil Dupree did not see heart monitoring equipment, Mr. Dupree admitted that the inmates' chests were covered by a sheet and not visible to him. Under the protocol, the heart monitoring equipment is attached to the inmate's chest and is monitored from the executioner's room. (PCR4. 229, 230) Thus, the fact that Mr. Dupree did not see what he was in no position to see does not show that there was a problem. The lower court properly summarily denied this claim and should be affirmed.

Finally, the lower court properly summarily denied the claim that Florida should be forced to adopt a one drug protocol because other states have done so was properly denied. The United States Supreme Court has held that the "Eighth Amendment is not violated every time a State reaches a conclusion different from a majority of its sisters." Harris v. Alabama, 513 U.S. 504, 509 (1995) (quoting Spaziano v. Florida, 468 U.S. 447, 464 (1984)). Moreover, both this Court and the United States Supreme Court have recognized that it is not the function

of the courts to micromanage the manner in which executions are conducted. Baze, 553 U.S. at 51; Valle, 70 So. 3d at 546 n.16. the United States Supreme Court has required a As such, defendant to show that his proposed alternative eliminates a substantial risk of serious harm and that the alternative is feasible to show an Eighth Amendment violation based on the failure to adopt an alternative protocol. Baze, 553 U.S. at 51, 61. As argued above, Defendant has not show that the protocol as written creates a substantial risk of serious harm. As such, the fact that other states have adopted a one drug protocol or use different drugs does not state an Eighth Amendment claim. Ferguson v. Warden, Florida State Prison, 493 Fed. Appx. 22, 25 (11th Cir. 2012); see also Pardo v. Palmer, 500 Fed. Appx. 901, 904 (11th Cir. 2012). The summary denial of the lethal injection claim should be affirmed.

IV. THE CLEMENCY CLAIM WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant asserts that the lower court erred in summarily denying his claim regarding clemency. However, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim as untimely and meritless.⁵

For a claim in a successive motion to be considered timely, it must be based on a new, retroactive change in law or newly discovered evidence. *Jimenez*, 997 So. 2d at 1064; Fla. R. Crim.

⁵ This Court reviews a lower court's decision to deny a post conviction claim summarily *de novo. Carroll*, 114 So. 3d at 886.

P. 3.851(d). Even when a claim purports to be based on newly discovered evidence, the claim is still untimely unless it is filed within one year of when the evidence could not have been discovered through an exercise of due diligence. *Jimenez*, 997 So. 2d at 1064. Here, the lower court properly rejected this claim as untimely.

In his motion, Defendant made no attempt to suggest that his claim was based on a newly recognized constitutional right that had been held to be retroactive. While he cited to a number of events that occurred in 2011 and 2012 in support of this claim, the latest of these events was the September 6, 2012 clemency interview that Defendant refused to attend. Defendant did not file his motion until October 20, 2013. As such, all of the events had occurred more than a year earlier. Given these circumstances, the lower court properly determined that this claim was untimely and should be affirmed.

In an attempt to avoid this result, Defendant insisted that he could not have raised the claim earlier because he needed to know that he had been denied clemency before he could raise the claim. However, this Court rejected this same argument in Ferguson v. State, 101 So. 3d 362, 366 (Fla. 2012). There, the defendant claimed that a challenge to his clemency proceedings could only be raised when his death warrant was signed and the

denial of clemency was announced. However, this Court held that "[c]laims raised pursuant to rule 3.851 must meet either the timeliness requirements provided in section (d)(1) or the exceptions provided in section (d)(2)." Id. As such, the lower court properly rejected this claim as untimely and should be affirmed.

is particularly true, as the result is entirely consistent with the law regarding the nature of claims regarding clemency proceedings. Both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have recognized that a defendant cannot seek judicial review of the discretionary decision whether to grant or deny clemency. Connecticut Bd. of Pardons v. Dumschat, 452 U.S. 458, 463-67 (1981); Sullivan v. Askew, 348 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 1977). Thus, Defendant's claim could not be based on fact that he was denied clemency. While four justices of the United States Supreme Court did recognize that a defendant could raise a due process challenge to a clemency proceeding if the proceeding failed to provide some minimal level of procedural safeguards in clemency in Ohio Adult Parole Auth. v. Woodard, 523 U.S. 272 (1998), the Court did not premise the ability to raise that challenge on the denial of clemency. In fact, in Woodward, the defendant filed his \$1983 complaint raising the due process claim before the clemency hearing was even scheduled to take

place. Id. at 277. Given these circumstances, the lower court's finding that the claim was untimely should be affirmed.

Moreover, the lower court's denial of the claim on the merits was also proper. This Court has repeatedly rejected challenges to Florida's clemency procedures. E.g., Wheeler v. State, 38 Fla. L. Weekly S495, S504 (Fla. Jun. 27, 2013); Carroll v. State, 114 So. 3d 883, 888-89 (Fla. 2013); Pardo, 108 So. 3d at 568; Gore v. State, 91 So. 3d 769, 778-79 (Fla. 2012); Grossman v. State, 29 So. 3d 1034, 1044 (Fla. 2010); Johnston v. State, 27 So. 3d 11, 25-26 (Fla. 2010); Marek v. State, 8 So. 3d 1123, 1129-30 (Fla. 2009); Rutherford v. State, 940 So. 2d 1112, 1121-23 (Fla. 2006); King v. State, 808 So. 2d 1237, 1241 n.5, 1246 (Fla. 2002); Glock, 776 So. 2d at 252; Provenzano v. State, 739 So. 2d 1150, 1155 (Fla. 1999). Given this body of precedent, the lower court properly determined that this claim was without merit as a matter of law. It should be affirmed.

This is all the more true as Defendant's claim is particularly frivolous. While Defendant acts as if there was no basis to seek his counsel's removal as clemency counsel, Defendant's counsel had previously been appointed as Defendant's post conviction counsel. Pursuant to \$27.711(11), Fla. Stat., a defendant's post conviction counsel is precluded from also serving as his clemency counsel. This Court has previously

determined that statutes limiting post conviction counsel to filing post conviction proceedings are proper. State ex rel. Butterworth v. Kenny, 714 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 1998). Even when this Court permitted post conviction counsel to file federal civil rights suits regarding lethal injection protocols, this Court continued to uphold the restriction on the ability of post conviction counsel to engage in clemency litigation. Darling v. 45 So. 3d 444, 445 (Fla. 2010). Given circumstances, the motion to remove Defendant's counsel clemency counsel amounts to little more than an attempt to enforce Florida law. Further, it should be remembered that despite the fact that \$27.711(11), clearly precluded Defendant's post conviction counsel from representing Defendant in clemency proceedings, Defendant's counsel was permitted to continue to represent Defendant. Given these circumstances, the lower court properly determined that this motion did not deprive Defendant access to clemency proceedings. It should be affirmed.

Moreover, Defendant's other complaints about clemency were also properly rejected. As Defendant admitted in his motion, his request to delay his clemency interview based on his alleged medical condition was denied after it was determined that Defendant was medically able to participate in a clemency interview. (PCR4. 193) Thereafter, Defendant simply refused to

be interviewed. *Id.* Given these circumstances, the lower court properly determined that Defendant was not permitted to complain about the lack of an interview in which he refused to participate. *See Boyd*, 910 So. 2d at 186-87; *San Martin*, 705 So. 2d at 1348; *White*, 446 So. 2d at 1036. It should be affirmed.

Finally, it should be remembered that Defendant was given full access to clemency proceedings before his initial motion for post conviction relief was filed. (PCR1. 1011-57) This Court has been particularly unwilling to find a basis for post conviction relief based on an alleged denial of access to clemency proceedings when a defendant has already had access to clemency proceedings earlier. Gore, 91 So. 3d at 778-79; Johnston, 27 So. 3d at 24-26; Bundy v. State, 497 So. 2d 1209, 1211 (Fla. 1986). While Defendant suggests that the prior access to clemency should have been ignored because clemency was being considered regarding Defendant's other capital case, this Court rejected this argument in Bundy, 497 So. 2d at 1211. As such, the lower court properly determined that this claim was without merit as a matter of law. It should be affirmed.

V. THE CLAIM REGARDING THE LENGTH OF TIME THAT DEFENDANT HAS BEEN ON DEATH ROW WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Defendant next contends that the lower court erred in summarily denying his claim that his execution is

unconstitutional because he has been on death row too long. However, the lower court properly denied this claim because it was untimely and meritless. 6

A claim cannot be brought in an untimely, successive motion for post conviction relief unless it is based on a new, retroactive constitutional right or evidence that could not have been discovered through an exercise of due diligence until less than one year before the motion is filed. *Jimenez*, 997 So. 2d at 1064; Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d). Since Defendant's claim satisfied neither of these exceptions, the lower court properly denied the claim as untimely.

Here, Defendant's claim is not based on any case from this Court or the United States Supreme Court that recognized a new right. Instead, it is based on Lackey v. Texas, 514 U.S. 1045 (1995), a statement regarding the denial of a certiorari petition that was issued in 1995, and concerned an inmate who had been on death row for 17 years. As the Court has recognized, such statements have no precedential value and do not constitute holdings of the Court. Teague v. Lane, 489 U.S. 288, 296 (1989). As such, the claim is not based on a new, retroactive constitutional right. See Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922, 929-30 (Fla. 1980). Moreover, Defendant reached the point of being on

⁶ This Court reviews a lower court's decision to deny a post conviction claim summarily *de novo. Carroll*, 114 So. 3d at 886.

death row for 17 years in 2000. Thus, the basis for raising this claim was available to Defendant for years. Since the claim did not satisfy either of the exception, the lower court summarily denied this untimely claim. The lower court should be affirmed.

Further, the lower court also properly summarily denied this claim because it is without merit as a matter of law. This Court has repeatedly determined that this claim is without merit as a matter of law. Carroll, 114 So. 3d at 889-90; Pardo, 108 So. 3d at 569; Ferguson, 101 So. 3d at 366-37; Gore, 91 So. 3d at 780; Valle, 70 So. 3d at 552; Johnston, 27 So. 3d at 27-28; Marek, 8 So. 3d at 1131; Tompkins v. State, 994 So. 2d 1072, 1085 (Fla. 2008); Elledge v. State, 911 So. 2d 57, 76 (Fla. 2005); Booker v. State, 969 So. 2d 186, 200 (Fla. 2007); Gore v. State, 964 So. 2d 1257, 1276 (Fla. 2007); Lucas v. State, 841 So. 2d 380, 389 (Fla. 2003); Foster v. State, 810 So. 2d 910, 916 (Fla. 2002); see also Thompson v. Sec'y for the Dep't of Corrections, 517 F.3d 1279, 1283-84 (11th Cir. 2008); White v. Johnson, 79 F.3d 432, 439 (5th Cir. 1996). Thus, the claim was also meritless. Since the claim was without merit as a matter of law, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim, and the denial should be affirmed.

This is all the more true as Defendant has contributed substantially to the delay. After his conviction and sentence

became final, Defendant took two years to file any post conviction pleadings. In that post conviction motion, Defendant raised numerous procedurally barred claims. (PCR1. 10-362) That motion was summarily denied within months of being filed. (PCR1. 1378-84) On post conviction appeal, Defendant insisted that he had exculpatory statements of prison employees who witnessed the offense in his possession to prove that the State suppressed evidence. Yet, when this Court sent this claim back for an evidentiary hearing in 1992, Defendant claimed to be unable to present the evidence that was allegedly in his possession without spending years seeking public records. (PCR2. 12-202, 203-321, 325-83, 389-98, 402-25, 433-74, 481-89, 507-10, 517-33, 548-51, 554-55, 558-59, 571-72) As a result, the evidentiary hearing was delayed for almost eight years. (PCT2. 1-279)

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